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SECOND QUARTER 2006 HIGHLIGHTS
o Revenues in the quarter increased to $35.5 million compared to $23.5 million in Q2 2005 as the Lac des Iles mine's palladium and by-product metal sales benefited from the first full quarter of underground production and higher commodity prices. In the first six months, revenues were $67.0 million versus $50.0 million over the comparable period last year
o Net loss narrowed for the second consecutive quarter to $11.3 million ($0.22 per share) compared to $15.2 million ($0.29) in Q2 last year. In the first half of 2006, net loss declined to $15.5 million ($0.30) from $23.0 million ($0.44) in the same period last year
o Cash cost per unit, net of by-product metals declined to US$219 per oz compared to US $322 per oz in the comparable quarter last year and US$329 per oz in Q1 2006
o Palladium price recognized during the quarter averaged US$310 per oz versus US$182 per oz in Q2 2005 and US$330 per oz in Q1 2006
o Repayment of the Kaiser Francis (KFOC) credit facility with the issue of US$13.5 million principal amount of Series II Convertible Notes
 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL RESULTS
SECOND QUARTER 2006
The following is Management's Discussion and Analysis of the financial condition and results of operations to enable a reader to assess material changes in financial condition and results of operations for the three month and six month periods ended June 30, 2006, compared to those of the respective periods in prior years. This Management's Discussion and Analysis covers the most recently completed quarter and six months and has been prepared as of August 9, 2006. This Management's Discussion and Analysis is intended to supplement and complement the unaudited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the six months ended June 30, 2006 (collectively, the "Financial Statements"). You are encouraged to review the Financial Statements and the most recent audited annual financial statements and Management's Discussion and Analysis included in the 2005 Annual Report, in conjunction with your review of this Management's Discussion and Analysis. The MD&A is based on information available to us at August 9, 2006, unless otherwise indicated.
ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Securities laws encourage companies to disclose forward-looking information so that investors can obtain a better understanding of the company's future prospects and make informed investment decisions. This MD&A contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the "safe harbor" provisions of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and any applicable Canadian securities legislation, including the SECURITIES ACT (Ontario), relating to our objectives, plans, strategies, financial condition and results of operations. Forward-looking statements may include words such as "estimated", "progressing", "may", "expect", "will", "continue", "believe" and other similar expressions, as they relate to the Company or its management, all of which are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
It is important to note that: (1) unless otherwise indicated, forward-looking statements indicate our expectations as at August 9, 2006 (2) our actual results may differ materially from our expectations if known and unknown risks or uncertainties affect our business, or if estimates or assumptions prove inaccurate; (3) we cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will materialize and, accordingly, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements; and (4) we disclaim any intention and assume no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement even if new information becomes available, as a result of future events or for any other reason.
In making the forward-looking statements in this MD&A, the Company has applied several material assumptions, including but not limited to, the assumption that: (1) market fundamentals will result in increased palladium demand and prices and sustained by-product metal demand and prices; (2) the integrated operation of the underground mine and the open pit mine remain viable operationally and economically; (3) financing is available on reasonable terms;
(4) expectations for blended mill feed head grade and mill performance will proceed as expected; (5) new mine plan scenarios will be viable operationally and economically; and (6) plans for improved mill production, for sustainable recoveries from the Lac des Iles mine, for further explorations at the Lac des Iles mine and surrounding region, and for exploration in Finland will proceed as
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expected. Other assumptions are discussed throughout this MD&A and, in particular, in "Critical Accounting Estimates" and "Risks and Uncertainties".
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements include, among others: (1) metal price volatility; (2) economic and political events affecting metal supply and demand; (3) fluctuations in ore grade or ore tonnes milled; (4) geological, technical, mining or processing problems; (5) future production; and
(6) changes in the life-of-mine plan and/or the ultimate pit design. For a more comprehensive review of risk factors, please refer to the "Risks and Uncertainties" section of the Company's most recent interim MD&A and to the Company's most recent Annual Report under "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Results" and Annual Information Form under "Risk Factors" on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and Canadian securities regulatory authorities.
OVERVIEW AND STRATEGIC ACTIVITIES
North American Palladium Ltd. (the "Company") operates the Lac des Iles mine located 85 km northwest of Thunder Bay, Ontario. The mine is Canada's only primary producer of platinum group metals ("PGM") In addition to its principal metal, palladium, the Company earns substantial revenue from by-product nickel, platinum, gold and copper. Palladium's primary use continues to be in the auto industry where it is an important component in controlling exhaust emissions as mandated by stringent hydrocarbon emission standards for cars, light trucks and SUVs, particularly in the United States, Europe and Japan. In addition, palladium is consumed in the dental, electronics, jewelry and chemical sectors.
The Company commenced the development of an underground mine at its Lac des Iles operation in the second quarter of 2004, which was completed in March 2006. The Company began full production from the underground operations on April 1, 2006 and the production from the underground operations has been reflected in the operating results of the second quarter. The underground production for the quarter averaged 2,129 tonnes per day with an average head grade of 5.49 g/tonne during the quarter. As at the date hereof, the underground mine had progressed to the 5120m level with ten stopes open and one stope completed and filled.
On October 18, 2005, the Company announced that it had entered into a letter of intent to form a joint venture with Gold Fields Limited to further explore and develop a mining operation at the Arctic Platinum Project ("APP") located in Finland (see press release dated October 18 2005). The APP includes several advanced stage PGM projects. The Company has been granted an option to earn up to a 50% interest and in certain circumstances a 60% interest in APP and will become the project operator. In order to exercise the option, the Company must spend US$12.5 million, complete a feasibility study and make a production decision, as well as paying Gold Fields up to US$45 million (for a 60% interest) through the issuance of the Company's common shares (approximately 9.2 million shares) on or before August 31, 2008. The formal agreement governing the joint venture was signed on March 24, 2006.
The Company commenced work on the APP late in the first quarter of 2006. Three drills were mobilized into the Narkaus area to commence exploration and infill drilling on the Siika Kama, Kuohunki and Nutturalampi targets. To date, 49 holes totaling 8,716
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meters have been drilled. Results from this program will be released once all assay results have been received, likely during the third quarter of 2006. At Suhanko, which was the subject of the 2005 feasibility carried out by Gold Fields, updated resource models are nearing completion. The Company has also contracted Aker Kvaerner ASA to complete the APP re-scoping study and P&E Mining Consultants Inc. to conduct the open pit designs and optimization.
On September 29, 2005, the Company entered into an option and joint venture agreement on the Shakespeare nickel, copper, PGM property located near Sudbury, Ontario with URSA Major Minerals Incorporated ("URSA") The property is proposed to be a 60% North American Palladium, 40% URSA Joint Venture with the Company becoming the operator upon successful completion of a viable feasibility study and arranging financing for commercial production. In March 2006, URSA presented to the Company the completed feasibility study on a contemplated open-pit mine and 4,500 tonne per day concentrator. Although the feasibility study was positive, the rate of return indicated in the study did not meet the Company's investment criteria. The Company and URSA are currently evaluating opportunities to reduce the estimated capital costs and improve the economics of the project. The Company has until September 2006 to make a decision on whether it wishes to proceed with the development of the project with URSA.
Currently, the Company is delivering and selling all of its palladium production into the spot market with one or more commodity dealers and manufacturers. For the six months ended June 30, 2006 the Company realized a weighted average cash price of US$314 per ounce on its delivery of palladium into the spot market. The Company expects the improvement in the palladium price to continue (average year to date price of US$320 per ounce to June 30, 2006, in comparison to US$190 per ounce average during the corresponding period of 2005) with the forecasted increasing global demand for palladium.
"Line chart may be obtained by viewing the document posted on the Corporation's website at www.napalladium.com".
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PRODUCTION STATISTICS

                                      THREE MONTHS             SIX MONTHS
                                        JUNE 30                 JUNE 30
                                 ---------------------   ---------------------
                                    2006        2005       2006*        2005
                                 ---------   ---------   ---------   ---------
PALLADIUM (OZ)                      57,326      48,230     104,341     100,802
Payable Palladium (oz) **           52,171      43,959      94,955      91,883
Platinum (oz)                        5,487       5,123      10,184      10,505
Gold (oz)                            4,200       3,834       7,815       7,965
Copper (lbs)                     1,258,978   1,432,890   2,472,372   2,994,930
Nickel (lbs)                       619,276     643,505   1,235,313   1,421,705
                                 ---------   ---------   ---------   ---------
Ore Tonnes Milled                1,101,543   1,195,304   2,227,253   2,351,626
Ore Tonnes Mined - Underground     193,752          --     297,297          --
Ore Tonnes Mined - Open Pit        920,997     935,263   1,979,940   2,204,138
                                 ---------   ---------   ---------   ---------
Waste Tonnes Mined - Open Pit    2,563,092   2,964,600   4,946,421   6,306,033
                                 ---------   ---------   ---------   ---------
Waste Strip Ratio                   2.78:1      3.17:1      2.50:1      2.86:1
                                 ---------   ---------   ---------   ---------

* Metal production and tonnes milled includes production from the underground pre-production that has not been recorded as revenue, but offset against the underground capital development costs. Metal production from the underground pre-production included 9,004 oz of palladium and other associated by-product metals.
** Net of smelter losses
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

                                                         2004                         2005                         2006
                                                  -----------------   ------------------------------------   ----------------
(thousands of dollars except per share amounts)     Q3        Q4        Q1        Q2        Q3        Q4       Q1       Q2
-----------------------------------------------   ------   --------   ------   -------   -------   -------   ------   -------
Revenue from metal sales                          45,154     35,182   26,206    23,544    17,247    25,609   31,492    35,519
Net income (loss)                                  6,598   (107,663)  (7,736)  (15,228)  (19,610)  (11,037)  (4,141)  (11,325)
Basic net income (loss) per share                   0.13      (2.09)   (0.15)    (0.29)    (0.37)    (0.21)   (0.08)    (0.22)
Fully diluted net income (loss) per share           0.13      (2.09)   (0.15)    (0.29)    (0.38)    (0.21)   (0.08)    (0.22)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The Company realized a net loss for the three months ended June 30, 2006 of $11,325,000 ($0.22 per share) on revenues of $35,519,000 compared to the net loss of $15,228,000 ($0.29 per share) on revenues of $23,544,000 for the corresponding period in 2005 and to 2006 first quarter's revenues of $31,492,000 and loss of $4,141,000 ($0.08 per share). The improvement in operating results compared to 2005, is primarily due to increased revenue being realized from the higher average prices for palladium and all by-product metals during the quarter, as well as higher palladium production.
Production for the second quarter of 2006 was approximately 57,000 ounces of palladium with an average palladium head grade of 2.22 grams per tonne. This was an improvement from the first quarter's palladium production of 47,000 ounces (which included 9,004 ounces of pre-production from the underground mine) and better than the previous year's production of 48,000 ounces during the same period. This improvement
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was achieved despite two unscheduled shutdowns in the quarter, one for the replacement of the conveyor feeding the coarse ore stockpile and the other as a result of the delivery of non-specification SAG mill pulp lifters (this was rectified in July when the correct liners were installed during a planned four day maintenance shutdown). As a result of these problems, mill availability during the second quarter of 2006 declined to 83.1%, compared to 86.0% in the first quarter and below the 87.3% availability in the comparative period of 2005.
Production for the second quarter of 2006 improved 20% compared to the year earlier, which in combination with the strengthening metals market resulted in an increase in revenue. Palladium revenue was recognized at the quoted June 30th price of US$310 per ounce, compared to US$181.50 per ounce in the comparative period of 2005, but below the US$330 per ounce in the first quarter of 2006. Palladium production sold to third-party smelters takes up to six months from time of receipt at the smelter to settle the final delivery and pricing. The price adjustment relating to palladium settled and awaiting settlement in second quarter of 2006 resulted in a decrease of $1,989,000 to palladium revenue, mainly from the first quarter 2006 production that was recorded at US$330 and which has now been adjusted to the quoted June 30, 2006 market price of US$310. The adjustment for mark to market in the corresponding period of 2005 was $359,000 as palladium prices were relatively flat during that period. By-product metal production reflected a similar volume improvement as palladium production and combined with the continued strong metals market resulted in improved prices and revenues for all the by-product metals in the second quarter.
Beginning in April 2006, production from the underground mine is being recognized as revenue. During the quarter, 193,752 tonnes of ore was extracted from the underground mine, with 203,760 tonnes being processed by the mill at an average grade of 5.49 grams per tonne. Production from the open pit was 3,484,089 tonnes comparable to the first quarter, but below the 3,899,863 tonnes for the coresponding period in 2005. However there was deterioration in the strip ratio to 2.78:1 compared to the first quarter's ratio of 2.20:1 due to lower grade ore zones being mined, but an improvement over the ratio of 3.17:1 experienced in the second quarter of 2005.
Production costs including overheads, but excluding non-cash amortization, were $28,289,000 during the second quarter of 2006, compared to $26,176,000 during the second quarter of 2005. Unit costs to produce palladium (production costs including overhead and smelter treatment, refining and freight costs), net of by-product metal revenues and royalties, decreased to US$219 per ounce in the second quarter of 2006 compared to US$322 per ounce in the second quarter of 2005, and the first quarter 2006 cash cost per ounce of US$329. The decrease in unit cash costs is attributable to the 20% increase in metals production as well as the strong by-product metals pricing, partially offset by the costs incurred to repair the conveyor feeding the coarse ore stockpile and the issues related to the SAG mill pulp lifters. In addition, there continues to be ongoing upward pressure on operating costs, particularly power, diesel fuel and tires.
During the second quarter of 2006, the mill processed 1,101,543 tonnes of ore for an average of 12,105 tonnes per day, with a palladium grade of 2.22 grams per tonne producing 57,326 ounces of palladium at a recovery rate of 73.1%. This compares to the second quarter of 2005, when the mill processed 1,195,304 tonnes of ore for an average of 13,135 tonnes per day with a palladium grade of 1.78 grams per tonne producing
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48,230 ounces of palladium at a recovery rate of 70.4%. The mill production for the quarter was impacted by the aforementioned maintenance issues.
Non-cash amortization increased to $7,538,000 in the second quarter of 2006 compared to $4,788,000 in the second quarter of 2005. The higher amortization amount is attributable to the 20% increase in palladium production, as well the commencement of the amortization of the underground development costs, with underground operations commencing full operations in April 2006. In addition, amortization of $824,000 capitalized to crushed and broken ore and concentrate inventories in the first quarter was expensed in the second quarter of 2006 as a result of its lower net realizable value due to the decrease in the price of palladium in the second quarter.
For the second quarter of 2006, the loss from mining operations was $9,114,000 compared to the $15,320,000 loss in the corresponding period of 2005, primarily due to improved metal prices. Included in the 2006 results was $2,771,000 (second quarter $1,371,000) spent on exploration on the APP as the Company continues its activities in Finland. Costs associated with the APP project are being charged to exploration expense as they occur until it is determined that the project can be economically developed, at which time they will begin to be capitalized.
Other income and expense, which includes interest income and expense, and foreign exchange gains and losses, was an expense of $2,692,000 in the second quarter of 2006 compared to an expense of $265,000 in the second quarter of 2005. The increase in 2006 is due to the recognition of non-cash accretion expenses of $2,460,000 relating to the convertible notes payable issued in 2006. In the current period, there was a foreign exchange gain of $955,000 compared to a loss of $82,000 in 2005. The foreign exchange gain relates primarily to the Company's US dollar denominated credit facilities as a result of the strengthening Canadian dollar at quarter end. In the second quarter of 2006, the Company incurred interest expense on long-term debt of $1,423,000 compared to $611,000 in the second quarter of 2005. The increased interest expense in the current year is attributable to the increase in interest rates year-over-year as well as the additional interest expense incurred on the convertible notes payable, the first payment in request of which was made on June 1, 2006 and was settled with the issue of approximately 44,000 common shares. Interest income for the second quarter of 2006 declined to $380,000 from $439,000 in the second quarter of 2005 as a result of a lower average cash position in 2006.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash used by operations (prior to changes in non-cash working capital) was $3,105,000 in the second quarter of 2006, compared to cash used in operations of $9,900,000 in the second quarter of 2005. The improvement in operating cash flow was attributable to the higher production volume and improved metals pricing in the quarter. Changes in non-cash working capital consumed $14,019,000 in the second quarter of 2006 as compared to providing $12,398,000 in second quarter of 2005 with palladium awaiting settlement increasing to 92,154 ounces at June 30, 2006 , (including underground pre-production) compared to 65,905 ounces at December 31, 2005. The increase in the physical quantity of metal in the concentrate awaiting settlement combined with the stronger by-product metal prices resulted in a 22% increase in the value of concentrate awaiting settlement during the second quarter 2006 of $10,679,000 ($22,718,000 increase year to date). After allowing for non-cash working capital
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changes, cash used by operations was $17,124,000 in the second quarter of 2006, compared to cash provided of $2,498,000 in the second quarter of 2005.
Investing activities required $3,649,000 of cash in the second quarter of 2006 the majority of which was attributable to the ongoing lateral development for the underground mine and the 2006 expansion of the tailings management facilities. This compares with $7,722,000 of net investing activities in the corresponding period of 2005.
On March 29, 2006, the Company closed the first tranche (Series I notes) of a private placement of convertible notes which provided US$35,000,000 in gross proceeds to the Company. The transaction was with two purchasers, Kaiser Francis Oil Company ("KFOC), the Company's largest shareholder, and an institutional investor. The Series I convertible notes bear an interest rate of 6.5% and mature on August 1, 2008. The notes can be converted into common shares of the Company at US$12.18 (2,873,563 common shares) and also have attached warrants which can be exercised to purchase 1,436,782 common shares at US$13.48 until March 29, 2010.
Under the terms of the private placement, the Company had the right to sell to KFOC up to US$13,500,000 principal amount of convertible notes on or before June 30, 2006, the proceeds of which were to be used to repay the loan outstanding under the KFOC standby credit facility. On June 23, 2006, the Company exercised this right and issued US$13,500,000 aggregate principal amount of Series II convertible notes to repay the outstanding credit facility. The Series II notes bear an interest rate of 6.5%, maturing on December 1, 2008 and are convertible into 1,108,374 common shares of the Company at US$12.18 per share. Warrants exercisable to purchase 554,187 common shares of the Company were issued with the Series II notes, with each warrant being exercisable to purchase one common share at US$13.48 per share until June 23, 2010. The purchasers of the Series I notes have the option to acquire an additional US$10,000,000 aggregate principal amount of convertible notes (Series III) on or before December 31, 2006. The terms of the convertible notes are more fully described in note 6 of the accompanying Financial Statements.
As at June 30, 2006, the Company had cash of approximately $16,000,000 (December 31, 2005; $15,000,000) and working capital of $65,400,000 (December 31, 2005; $31,500,000). The Company believes it will need to raise additional working capital to fund its expected operations over the next twelve months as the inventory of concentrate awaiting settlement increases. The Company is reviewing various options to raise the additional funds required to finance the building up of the concentrate inventory.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

                                                   PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD
as at June 30 2006                     ---------------------------------------------
(thousands of dollars)                  Total     1 Year   1 - 3 Years   4 - 5 Years
------------------------------------   -------   -------   -----------   -----------
Senior credit facility & interest      $21,721   $ 6,720     $13,921        $1,080
Capital lease obligations                7,056     2,145       3,755         1,156
Operating leases                           891       453         316           122
Convertible notes payable & interest
   (principal amount  of  US$48.5 m)    60,072    12,082      47,990            --
Other purchase obligations               3,800     3,800          --            --
                                       -------   -------     -------        ------
                                       $93,540   $25,200     $65,982        $2,358
                                       =======   =======     =======        ======

There are no material payments due after five years.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In December 2001, KFOC, the Company's controlling shareholder, provided a US$20,000,000 non-revolving credit facility to finance the Company's working capital requirements. In the second quarter of 2004, the KFOC credit facility was extended to June 30, 2006. Interest is based on the 30-day LIBOR plus 2.50% and the stand by fee is 0.125% per annum. The amount paid to KFOC for interest and stand by fees in the second quarter of 2006 was $277,000 ($97,000 for the comparable period in 2005). On June 23, 2006, this credit facility was repaid by the Company, in a non-cash transaction, with the issuance of US$13,500,000 of Series II convertible notes to KFOC.
Also, on March 29, 2006, KFOC was one of two purchasers of the Series I convertible notes issued by the Company. KFOC subscribed for 50% of the notes and attached warrants issued by the Company, paying US$17,500,000 of gross proceeds to the Company. The amount paid to KFOC in the second quarter 2006 for interest on the convertible notes was $219,000.
MANAGEMENT'S OUTLOOK
There is no apparent pattern of variability or seasonality affecting the Company's operations. The principal drivers of the Company's performance are its monthly production of PGM and by-product metals from its Lac des Iles mine and the corresponding world spot prices of such metals.
With the improvement in the overall blended mill feed head grade and with improved mill performance, palladium cash costs per ounce are expected to be significantly lower in 2006 than that experienced in 2005, as evidenced during the second quarter of 2006 with cash costs per ounce of palladium decreasing to US$219 per ounce.
For the six months ended June 30, 2006, the Company produced 104,000 ounces of palladium, its principal metal. Beginning in the second quarter of 2006, production has begun to improve over 2005 levels with the commencement of full production from the underground mine. With the intermittent operational issues experienced to date in 2006, the Company now expects production for the year 2006 to be approximately 225,000 ounces versus 280,000 ounces forecasted at the beginning of the year.
During the first quarter of 2006, the ultimate pit design implemented in 2004 was changed to an interim pit design that addressed previously disclosed south pit wall
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instability issues. The Company has engaged an independent geotechnical consultant to review the slope stability issues and his recommendations have been used in designing a reconfigured open pit mining plan. The Company has commenced a detailed review of its life-of-mine operating plan for the Lac des Iles mine, the Company's only operating mine. The Company's management is in the process of preparing and reviewing various mine plan scenarios in order to determine which future mine operating plan optimizes the expected remaining economic life of the Lac des Iles mine. At this time, the most likely mine plan scenario to be adopted is unknown and the possible effect, if any, on the current life-of-mine plan is undeterminable. Depending on the eventual life-of-mine plan selected, the Company will have to review the carrying value of its mining interests and determine if an impairment charge and a corresponding reduction in the carrying value of its mining interests is required.
The Company's aggressive exploration program is expected to continue in the second half of 2006, with approximately $9.0 million being allocated to exploration activities during the remainder of the year. The main focus will be on the APP in Finland. Drilling commenced in late February with the drilling results to be incorporated into a re-scoping study which has commenced. The Company will focus on the further definition of the Offset High Grade Zone at Lac des Iles and grassroots projects such as the Shebandowan project. In addition, the pursuit of quality Ni/PGM opportunities will continue to be a key strategy.
The PGM markets continue to benefit from strong global fundamentals. During the second quarter the price of palladium has decreased from the highs it experienced during the first quarter, but prices remain significantly above prior year's levels and the Company believes that these global fundamentals will lead to increased metal demand, and continued improvement in palladium prices.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Critical accounting estimates represent estimates that are highly uncertain and for which changes in those estimates could materially impact the Company's financial statements. The following accounting estimates are critical:
(a) IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENTS OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS
Each year, the Company reviews the mining plan for the remaining life-of-mine. Significant changes in the mine plan can occur as a result of mining experience, new discoveries, changes in mining methods and rates, process changes, investments in new equipment and technology, metal prices and other factors. Based on year-end mineral reserves and the current mine plan, the Company reviews annually its accounting estimates and makes adjustments accordingly.
The Company assesses long-lived assets for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate their carrying values may not be recoverable. When the carrying value of a long-lived asset is less than its net recoverable value as determined on an undiscounted basis, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that its fair value, measured as the discounted cash flows over the life of the asset.
10
Assumptions underlying future cash flow estimates are subject to risk and uncertainty. Any differences between significant assumptions and market conditions such as metal prices, exchange rates, recoverable metal, and/or the Company's operating performance could have a material effect on the Company's ability to recover the carrying amounts of its long-lived assets resulting in possible additional impairment changes.
(b) AMORTIZATION OF MINING INTERESTS
The Company amortizes a large portion of its mining interests using the unit of production method based on proven and probable reserves. As a result of the asset impairment charge recorded in 2004, the unit of production amortization rate in 2005 reduced by approximately 49%. Changes in reserve estimates are calculated periodically and could affect amortization expense prospectively.
(c) FORWARD METAL SALES AND METAL PRICE SWAP CONTRACTS
North American Palladium has in place a hedge policy to allow for managing the Company's exposure to market metal prices, particularly its platinum, gold, nickel and copper price exposure. North American Palladium uses fixed-price forward platinum sales contracts and cash settled gold, nickel and copper price swap contracts to insulate its earnings and cash flows from changes in these metal prices. These contracts allow the Company to sell its platinum to credit-worthy metal dealers at a fixed price under the forward sales contract. In the case of gold, nickel and copper, the Company receives a fixed metal price in exchange for paying the floating price received under its physical sales contracts to acceptable counterparts under the metal price swap contracts. In October 2005, the Company made a decision to unwind various by-product metal hedges namely, platinum, gold, and nickel through the buy-back of forward sales or cash settled metal price swaps. This decision was taken to reposition the Company's exposure to its by-product metals in advance of the expected increase in metal production at Lac des Iles in 2006. As at June 30, 2006, the Company does not have any forward sales or metal swap contracts in place.
NON-GAAP MEASURE
North American Palladium has included in this document a non-GAAP performance measure for cash cost per ounce. This non-GAAP measure does not have any standardized meaning nor is it necessarily comparable with similar measures presented by other companies. North American Palladium believes that certain investors use this information to evaluate the Company's performance. This data is intended to provide additional information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. The Company receives U.S. dollars from the sale of its metal production, with its production costs being principally in Canadian dollars. The strengthening of the Canadian dollar in relation to the U.S. dollar will have a negative impact on the Company's cash cost per ounce as calculated in U.S. dollars.
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RECONCILIATION OF CASH COST PER OUNCE TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
THREE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30

(thousands of dollars except per ounce amounts)     2006      2005
-----------------------------------------------   -------   -------
PRODUCTION COSTS INCLUDING OVERHEAD               $28,289   $26,176
SMELTER TREATMENT, REFINING AND FREIGHT COSTS       4,237     4,324
                                                  -------   -------
                                                   32,526    30,500
LESS:  BY-PRODUCT METAL REVENUE                    20,579    13,754
                                                  -------   -------
                                                   11,947    16,746
                                                  -------   -------
DIVIDED BY OUNCES OF PALLADIUM                     48,977    42,399
                                                  -------   -------
CASH COST PER OUNCE (C$)                              244       395
                                                  -------   -------
C$ EXCHANGE RATE                                   1.1151    1.2257
                                                  -------   -------
CASH COST PER OUNCE (US$)                             219       322
                                                  -------   -------

OTHER INFORMATION
Additional information regarding the Company is included in the Company's Annual Information Form and Annual Report on Form 40-F which are filed with the Canadian securities regulators and the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, respectively. A copy of the Company's Annual Information Form is posted on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. A copy of the Annual Report or Form 40-F can be obtained from the United States Securities and Exchange Commission's website at www.sec.gov.
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
The following securities are outstanding as of August 7, 2006:
(i) 52,784,919 common shares of the Company outstanding;
(ii) stock options outstanding pursuant to the 1995 Corporate Stock Option Plan entitling the holders to acquire 345,800 common shares of the Company at an average strike price of $10.31;
(iii)US$35 million principal amount of convertible notes (the "Series I Notes") outstanding;
(iv) US$13.5 million principal amount of convertible notes (the "Series II Notes") outstanding;
(v) common share purchase warrants which can be exercised to purchase 1,436,782 common shares until March 29, 2010 and 554,187 common share purchase warrants until June 23, 2010 at US$13.48; and
(vi) unit warrants which can be exercised to purchase up to US$10 million principal amount of convertible notes (the "Series III Notes").
The Series I Notes can be converted into common shares of the Company at US$12.18 (2,873,563 common shares). The Series I Notes bear interest at a rate of 6.5% per annum payable bi-monthly, commencing on June 1, 2006. The Series I Notes are repayable in nine equal principal installments commencing on April 1, 2007.
The Series II Notes can be converted into common shares of the Company at US$12.18 (1,108,374 common shares). The Series II Notes bear interest at a rate of 6.5% per annum payable bi-monthly, commencing on August 1, 2006. The Series II Notes are repayable in nine equal principal installments commencing on August 1, 2007.
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The Series III Notes, if issued, will have the same terms as the Series I and II Notes, subject to TSX and AMEX approval, except that the interest payments will commence on the first interest payment date after the issuance of such note and the principal repayments will commence on the first interest payment that is at least twelve months after the date of issuance of such note.
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The price of palladium is the most significant factor influencing the profitability of the Company. Currently, sales of palladium account for approximately 50% of the Company's revenue. Many factors influence the price of palladium, including global supply and demand, speculative activities, international political and economic conditions and production levels and costs in other PGM producing countries, particularly Russia and South Africa. The possible development of a substitute alloy or synthetic material, which has catalytic characteristics similar to platinum group metals, may result in a future decrease in demand for palladium and platinum.
Currency fluctuations may affect cash flow since production currently is sold in United States dollars, whereas the Company's administration, operating and exploration expenses are mainly incurred in Canadian dollars. As a result, changes in the exchange rate between Canadian and United States dollars can affect revenue and profitability.
The Company is dependent on one mine for its metal production. The business of mining is generally subject to risks and hazards, including environmental hazards, industrial accidents, metallurgical and other processing problems, unusual and unexpected rock formations, pit slope failures, flooding and periodic interruptions due to inclement weather conditions or other acts of nature, mechanical equipment and facility performance problems and the availability of materials and equipment. These risks could result in damage to, or destruction of, the Company's properties or production facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage, delays in mining, monetary losses and possible legal liability. Although the Company maintains insurance in respect of the mining operations that is within ranges of coverage consistent with industry practice, such insurance may not provide coverage of all the risks associated with mining. Currently the Company sells all of its concentrate to one smelting firm under a contract that expires on September 30, 2006. Management believes it will be successful in negotiating an extension and/or new agreement with the smelting firm, but cannot guarantee that this will occur.
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NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 (EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS)
June 30 December 31
2006 2005
 (unaudited)
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

   Cash and cash equivalents                         $  16,214     $  15,031
   Concentrate awaiting settlement, net - Note 2        60,171        37,453
   Inventories                                          10,304         8,599
   Crushed and broken ore stockpiles - Note 3            6,348         7,267
   Other assets                                          1,505         2,344
                                                     ---------     ---------
                                                        94,542        70,694
Mining interests, net                                  158,562       159,523
Mine restoration deposit - Note 4                        7,931         7,247
Crushed and broken ore stockpiles - Note 3                 274           239
Deferred financing costs                                 1,393           654
                                                     ---------     ---------
                                                     $ 262,702     $ 238,357
                                                     ---------     ---------
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities          $  14,716     $  16,392
   Taxes payable                                           129           386
   Future mining tax liability                              53            --
   Current portion of obligations under capital
      leases                                             2,145         2,323
   Current portion of long-term debt - Note 5            6,460         6,664
   Current portion of convertible notes
      payable - Note 6                                   5,612            --
   Kaiser Francis credit facility - Note 5                  --        13,407
                                                     ---------     ---------
                                                        29,115        39,172

Mine restoration obligation                              8,053         7,894
Obligations under capital leases                         4,911         6,218
Long-term debt - Note 5                                 13,921        17,660
Convertible notes payable - Note 6                      30,452            --
Future mining tax liability                                  8           202
                                                     ---------     ---------
                                                        86,460        71,146
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
   Common share capital and common share purchase
   warrants - Note 7                                   337,609       325,592
   Equity component of convertible notes payable,
   net of issue costs  - Note 6                         12,337            --
   Contributed surplus                                   1,017           874
   Deficit                                            (174,721)     (159,255)
                                                     ---------     ---------
                                                       176,242       167,211
                                                     ---------     ---------
                                                     $ 262,702     $ 238,357
                                                     ---------     ---------
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NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND DEFICIT
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
(unaudited)

                                                          THREE MONTHS                 SIX MONTHS
                                                             ENDED                       ENDED
                                                            JUNE 30                     JUNE 30
                                                   -------------------------   -------------------------
                                                       2006          2005          2006          2005
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
REVENUE FROM METAL SALES - Note 9                  $    35,519   $    23,544   $    67,011   $    49,750
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
OPERATING EXPENSES
   Production costs, excluding amortization
   and asset retirement costs                           28,289        26,176        52,600        49,409
   Smelter treatment, refining and freight costs         4,237         4,324         6,951         8,997
   Amortization                                          7,538         4,788        11,135         9,507
   Administrative                                        1,584         1,792         3,763         3,387
   Exploration expense                                   2,659         1,662         4,683         2,505
   Loss on disposal of equipment                           194            --           194            --
   Asset retirement costs                                  132           122           255           246
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
   Total operating expenses                             44,633        38,864        79,581        74,051
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
LOSS FROM MINING OPERATIONS                             (9,114)      (15,320)      (12,570)      (24,301)
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
OTHER EXPENSES (INCOME)
   Accretion expense relating to convertible
      notes payable - Note 6                             2,460            --         2,460            --
   Interest expense                                      1,423           611         2,118         1,246
   Foreign exchange loss (gain)                           (955)           82          (674)          146
   Amortization of deferred financing costs                144            11           155            21
   Write-off of deferred financing costs                    --            --           504            --
   Interest income                                        (380)         (439)         (463)         (928)
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
Total other expenses (income)                            2,692           265         4,100           485
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES                               (11,806)      (15,585)      (16,670)      (24,786)
Income tax expense (recovery)                             (481)         (357)       (1,204)       (1,822)
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
LOSS FOR THE PERIOD                                    (11,325)      (15,228)      (15,466)      (22,964)
Deficit, beginning of period                          (163,396)     (113,380)     (159,255)     (105,644)
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
Deficit, end of period                             $  (174,721)  $  (128,608)  $  (174,721)  $  (128,608)
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
Loss per share
   Basic                                           $     (0.22)  $     (0.29)  $     (0.30)  $     (0.44)
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
   Diluted                                         $     (0.22)  $     (0.29)  $     (0.30)  $     (0.44)
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
   Basic                                            52,371,162    51,997,215    52,293,401    51,870,012
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
   Diluted                                          52,371,162    51,997,215    52,293,401    51,870,012
                                                   -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
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NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 (EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS)

(unaudited)

                                                      THREE MONTHS           SIX MONTHS
                                                         ENDED                 ENDED
                                                        JUNE-06               JUNE-06
                                                  -------------------   -------------------
                                                    2006       2005       2006       2005
                                                  --------   --------   --------   --------
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATIONS
Loss for the period                               $(11,325)  $(15,228)  $(15,466)  $(22,964)
Operating items not involving cash
   Accretion expense relating to
   convertible notes payable                         2,460         --       2460         --
   Amortization                                      7,538      4,788     11,135      9,507
   Amortization of deferred financing costs            144         11        155         21
   Accrued interest on convertible notes               395         --        395         --
   Accrued interest on mine closure deposit            (84)        --        (84)        --
   Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss          (2,722)       462     (2,768)       653
   Loss on disposal of equipment                       194         --        194         --
   Asset retirement costs                              132        122        255        246
   Future income tax expense (recovery)               (295)      (522)    (1,130)    (2,207)
   Write-off of deferred financing costs                --         --        504         --
   Stock based compensation and employee
   benefits                                            458        467        883        881
                                                  --------   --------   --------   --------
                                                    (3,105)    (9,900)    (3,467)   (13,863)
Changes in non-cash working capital - Note 8       (14,019)    12,398    (24,101)    27,271
                                                  --------   --------   --------   --------
                                                   (17,124)     2,498    (27,568)    13,408
                                                  --------   --------   --------   --------
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
   Issuance of convertible notes                        --         --     41,037         --
   Increase in long term debt and credit
   facility                                             --         --      2,311         --
   Deferred financing costs                           (227)        --     (2,364)        --
   Issuance of common shares                         3,446      2,608      3,921      3,039
   Repayment of long-term debt                      (1,625)    (1,731)    (3,295)    (3,455)
   Repayment of obligations under capital
   leases                                             (597)      (649)    (1,175)    (1,106)
   Mine restoration deposit                           (300)      (300)      (600)      (600)
                                                  --------   --------   --------   --------
                                                       697        (72)    39,835     (2,122)
                                                  --------   --------   --------   --------
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to mining interests                       (3,649)    (7,722)   (11,084)   (13,791)
                                                  --------   --------   --------   --------
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
   equivalents                                     (20,076)    (5,296)     1,183     (2,505)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
   period                                           36,290     68,546     15,031     65,755
                                                  --------   --------   --------   --------
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period          $ 16,214   $ 63,250   $ 16,214   $ 63,250
                                                  --------   --------   --------   --------

Supplementary information - Note 8(b) and (c)
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NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2006
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS EXCEPT PER SHARE AND PER OUNCE 
AMOUNTS)
(unaudited)
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
These unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared using disclosure standards appropriate for interim financial statements and do not contain all the explanatory notes, descriptions of accounting policies or other disclosures required by Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for annual financial statements. Such notes, descriptions of accounting policies and other disclosures are included in the Company's audited annual consolidated financial statements included in the Company's annual report to shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2005. Accordingly, these unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited annual consolidated financial statements for 2005.
LIFE-OF-MINE PLAN REVIEW AND MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINTY OF MINING INTERESTS
During the first quarter of 2006, the ultimate pit design implemented in 2004 was changed to an interim pit design that addressed previously disclosed south pit wall instability issues. The Company has engaged an independent geotechnical consultant to review the slope stability issues and his recommendations have been used in designing a reconfigured open pit mining plan. The Company has commenced a detailed review of its life-of-mine operating plan for the Lac des Iles mine, the Company's only operating mine. The Company's management is in the process of preparing and reviewing various mine plan scenarios in order to determine which future mine operating plan optimizes the expected remaining economic life of the Lac des Iles mine. At this time, the most likely mine plan scenario to be adopted is unknown and the possible effect, if any, on the current life-of mine plan is undeterminable. Depending on the eventual life-of-mine plan selected, the Company will have to review the carrying value of its mining interests and determine if an impairment charge and a corresponding reduction in the carrying value of its mining interests is required.
ARCTIC PLATINUM PROJECT
On October 18, 2005, the Company announced that it had entered into a letter of intent to form a joint venture with Gold Fields Limited to further explore and develop a mining operation at the Arctic Platinum Project ("APP") located in Finland. The APP includes several advanced stage PGM Projects. The Company has been granted an option to earn up to a 50% interest and, in certain circumstances, a 60% interest in APP and will become the project operator. In order to exercise the option, the Company must spend US$12,500, complete a feasibility study and make a production decision, as well as paying Gold Fields up to US$45,000 (for a 60% interest) through the issuance of the Company's common shares (approximately 9.2 million shares) on or before August 31, 2008. The formal agreement governing the joint venture was signed on March 24, 2006. As at June 30, 2006, the Company has incurred $2,771 (US$2,485) in expenditures on the APP and these costs have been charged to exploration expense.
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2. CONCENTRATE AWAITING SETTLEMENT
The gross value of concentrate awaiting settlement represents the value of platinum group metals and base metals from production shipped to and received by third-party smelters between November 2005 and June 2006, which are in-process at the balance sheet date. At June 30, 2006, concentrate awaiting settlement included 92,154 ounces of palladium (December 31, 2005
- 65,905) of which 9,004 ounces is pre-production from the underground mine which is not recognized as revenue but as a reduction of the cost to develop the underground mine. Concentrate awaiting settlement is revalued and adjusted at each reporting period to reflect changes in metal prices and foreign exchange rates. Concentrate awaiting settlement was entirely from one domestic customer at June 30, 2006 and the Company expects full realization will occur on such receivable.
3. CRUSHED AND BROKEN ORE STOCKPILES
Crushed and broken ore stockpiles are valued at the lower of average production cost and estimated net realizable value. Crushed and broken ore stockpiles represent coarse ore that has been extracted from the mine and is available for further processing. The amount of stockpiled ore that is not expected to be processed within one year is shown as a long-term asset.
4. MINE RESTORATION DEPOSIT
The Company has established a mine closure plan for the eventual clean-up and restoration of the mine site in conjunction with the Ontario Ministry of Northern Development and Mines (the "Ministry"), which requires a total amount of $7,802 to be accumulated in a Trust Fund controlled by the Ministry. At June 30, 2006, the Company had $7,931 on deposit with the Ministry which includes accrued interest of $401. The funds on deposit bear interest at current short-term deposit rates and will be returned to the Company once the mine closure is completed.
5. LONG-TERM DEBT AND CREDIT FACILITY
The Company's long-term debt, is comprised of a senior credit facility with an equipment finance company. The interest rate under the loan facility is LIBOR plus 250 basis points, or 7.85% at June 30, 2006. As at June 30, 2006, the outstanding long-term debt, including current and long-term portions was $20,381 The senior credit facility is repayable in equal quarterly installments over a five-year period with a final maturity of November 24, 2009.
Kaiser-Francis Oil Company's ("KFOC"), the Company's controlling shareholder, credit facility maturing on June 30, 2006 was repaid on June 23, 2006 pursuant to the terms of the Series II convertible note issued on that date (also refer to Note 6).
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6. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE
June 30,
2006

Series I convertible notes (principal amount US$35 million, maturing August 1, 2008) $25,308 Series II convertible notes (principal amount US$13.5 million,
maturing December 1, 2008)                                      10,756
                                                               -------
                                                                36,064
Less: current portion                                           (5,612)
                                                               -------
                                                               $30,452
                                                               -------

On March 29, 2006, the Company issued US$35,000 (C$41,037) aggregate principal amount of Series I convertible notes (the "Series I Notes") due August 1, 2008 through a private placement of convertible notes and common share purchase warrants. The offering (the "Offering") consists of up to US$58,500 principal amount of notes. The Offering was to KFOC and an institutional investor (the "Purchasers"). The Offering is governed by a securities purchase agreement dated March 24, 2006 (the "SPA") among the Company and the Purchasers.
The Series I Notes are convertible into 2,873,563 common shares of the Company at any time by the holder at US$12.18 per share. Warrants exercisable to purchase 1,436,782 common shares were issued with the Series I Notes, each warrant being exercisable to purchase one common share at an exercise price of US$13.48 until March 29, 2010.
The Company, at its option, had the right to sell to KFOC up to US$13,500 principal amount of Series II Notes (a second tranche) on or before June 30, 2006, which would be used to repay the loan under the existing KFOC credit facility (refer to note 5). On June 23, 2006, the Company exercised this right and issued to KFOC US$13,500 aggregate principal amount of Series II Notes, due December 1, 2008. The Series II Notes are convertible into 1,108,374 common shares of the Company at any time by the holder at US$12.18 per share. Warrants exercisable to purchase 554,187 common shares were issued with the Series II Notes, with each warrant being exercisable to purchase one common share at an exercise price of US$13.48 until June 23, 2010.
The Purchasers have the option to acquire an additional US$10,000 principal amount of notes (a third tranche) on or before December 31, 2006.
The Series I and II Notes bear interest at a rate of 6.5% per annum payable bi-monthly, commencing on June 1, 2006 and August 1, 2006, respectively. Series I and II Notes are repayable in nine equal installments commencing April 1, 2007 and August 1, 2007, respectively. The interest payments and/or repayment amounts may be paid to each Purchaser, at the Purchaser's option, in any combination of cash and/or common shares. If common shares are issued for interest payments or in repayment of the convertible notes they will be issued at a 10% discount from the weighted average trading price of the common shares on the AMEX for the five consecutive trading days immediately prior to applicable payment date.
Commencing June 29, 2007 for Series I and September 23, 2007 for Series II, if the weighted average trading price of the common shares for each of any 25 consecutive trading days is 150% or more of the conversion price, the Company will have the right to force the Purchasers to convert all or any of the outstanding principal amount of the convertible notes at the conversion price.
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The convertible notes contain customary covenants, including restrictions on the Company incurring debt or obligations for or involving the payment of money in excess of certain restricted amounts. The convertible notes are unsecured but contain customary anti-dilution protection as well as adjustments in the event that the Company issues common shares or securities convertible into common shares at a purchase price per common share less than the conversion price. The warrants contain similar anti-dilution protection.
Under Canadian GAAP, the components of the convertible notes must be bifurcated and accounted for separately as debt and equity instruments. The warrants are separable from the notes and are accounted for as an equity instrument. The Series I proceeds received were allocated to the debt and equity components of the notes and to the initial warrants on a relative fair value basis as follows: US$20,558 to the debt, US$8,808 to the equity component and US$5,634 to the warrants. The Series II Notes proceeds were allocated as follows: US$9,578 to the debt, US$2,312 to the equity component and US$1,610 to the warrants. In addition, a liability (the "Equity Premium") was recognized for the holders' option to receive common shares, in lieu of cash, at a 10% discount to the five day weighted trading price, as described above, for interest and principal payments. The Company will be required to accrete the carrying value of the convertible notes and the Equity Premium such that at each installment payment date, the carrying value of the notes and the Equity Premium will be equal to the face value of the notes and the liability related to the Equity Premium. The Company recorded accretion expense of $2,460 during the three months ended June 30, 2006 of which $576 represented the accretion relating to the Equity Premium which was included in the carrying value of the convertible notes payable as at June 30, 2006.
The fair value of the debt was determined based on the future payments of principal and interest for a debt instrument of comparable maturity and credit quality, excluding any conversion option by the holder. The Series I Notes carry an effective interest of 42%. The Series II Notes carry an effective interest rate of 28%.
The conversion option or equity component of the Notes was valued using a Binomial model. The fair value of the warrants was determined based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The models used in the valuation of the components of the convertible debt contain certain subjective assumptions, changes of which can cause significant variation in the estimated fair value of the debt and equity components of the notes.
The estimated issue costs of $2,364 have been allocated pro-rata to the debt ($1,398) and equity components ($589) of the Series I and II Notes and to the associated warrants ($377) on a relative fair value basis. The financing costs related to the debt components will be amortized on an effective yield basis over the term of the convertible notes.
7
 
7. COMMON SHARE CAPITAL AND COMMON SHARE PURCHASE WARRANTS
The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of special shares, issuable in series, including 10,000,000 Series A preferred shares.
(a) Common shares and common share purchase warrants:

                                                   JUNE 30, 2006
                                              ----------------------
                                                 SHARES      AMOUNT
                                              -----------   --------
Common shares issued, beginning of period      52,197,217   $325,592
Common shares issued:
   Pursuant to stock options exercised            120,588        875
   Fair value of stock options exercised               --        146
   To group registered retirement savings
      plan participants                            41,568        507
   For interest payments on convertible
      notes payable                                43,772        395
   Private placement - flow through shares
      (net)                                       270,000      3,045
   Tax effect of flow-through shares                   --       (989)
                                              -----------   --------
Common shares issued, end of period            52,673,145    329,571
                                              -----------   --------
Common share purchase warrants - Note 7b
Balance, beginning of period                           --         --
   Issued pursuant to terms of Series I
      convertible notes, net of issue costs     1,436,782      6,238
   Issued pursuant to terms of Series II
      convertible notes, net of issue costs       554,187      1,800
                                              -----------   --------
                                                1,990,969      8,038
                                              -----------   --------
Balance, end of period                                      $337,609
                                                            --------

The Company finances a portion of its exploration activities through the issue of flow through shares. Under the terms of these share issues, the tax attributes of the related expenditures are renounced to subscribers. At the time the Company renounces the tax attributes of the expenditures to the subscribers, share capital is reduced and future tax liabilities are increased by the estimated income tax benefits renounced.
(b) Common Share Purchase Warrants
Pursuant to the terms of the securities purchase agreements governing the issue of the convertible notes payable, warrants to purchase 1,990,969 common shares were issued and are outstanding as follows:

NUMBER OF   EXERCISE       EXPIRY
 WARRANTS     PRICE         DATE
---------   --------   --------------
1,436,782   US$13.48   March 29, 2010
  554,187   US$13.48    June 23, 2010
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(c) Restricted Share Unit Plan
Effective December 14, 2005, the Company adopted a Restricted Share Unit Plan under which eligible directors, officers and key employees of the Company are entitled to receive awards of restricted share units. Each restricted share unit means an equivalent in value to the fair market value of a common share of the Company on the date of the award. As at June 30, 2006, 40,000 restricted share units are outstanding. The fair value of the restricted share units as at June 30, 2006 is $9.63 per unit and $32 has been charged to compensation expense for the three months ended June 30, 2006.
(d) Corporate Stock Option Plan
The following summary sets out the activity in outstanding common share stock options for the six months ended June 30, 2006:

                                         June 30, 2006
                                     --------------------
                                                Weighted-
                                                 Average
                                                 Exercise
                                      Shares      Price
                                     --------   ---------
Outstanding, beginning of period      563,638     $10.43
Granted                                35,000       8.40
Exercised                            (120,588)      7.25
Cancelled                            (124,750)     13.29
                                     --------     ------
Outstanding, end of period            353,300     $10.31
                                     --------     ------
Options exercisable, end of period    145,267     $10.49
                                     --------     ------

The Company recognized a stock based compensation expense of $326 for the six months ended June 30, 2006 (June 30, 2005 - $345). The following table summarizes information about the Company's stock options outstanding at June 30, 2006:

                                         Options
                                     Outstanding at   Options Exercisable
Exercise Price      Expiry Dates      June 30, 2006     at June 30, 2006
--------------   -----------------   --------------   -------------------
$ 3.42               April 7, 2011       15,167              15,167
$ 4.75           February 27, 2011        7,500               7,500
$ 8.40               June 20, 2014       35,000                  --
$ 8.83           December 14, 2013       10,000                  --
$ 9.67           November 30, 2013       40,000                  --
$ 9.76            November 1, 2012       15,000               5,000
$10.00           November 27, 2013       50,000                  --
$10.01                June 6, 2010        6,000               6,000
$11.90               June 23, 2012      174,633             111,600
                                        -------             -------
                                        353,300             145,267
                                        -------             -------
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8. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(A) THE NET CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL BALANCES RELATED TO 
OPERATIONS ARE AS FOLLOWS:

                                         THREE MONTHS          SIX MONTHS
                                             ENDED                ENDED
                                            JUNE 30              JUNE 30
                                     -------------------   ------------------
                                        2006       2005      2006       2005
                                     ---------   -------   --------   -------
Cash provided by (used in):
   Concentrate awaiting settlement    $(10,679)  $12,339   $(22,718)  $29,685
   Inventories and stockpiles             (964)      290       (201)     (432)
   Other assets                            572       304        839       680
   Accounts payable and accrued
      liabilities                       (2,720)     (106)    (1,764)   (2,117)
   Taxes payable                          (228)     (429)      (257)     (545)
                                      ---------  -------    -------   -------
                                      $(14,019)  $12,398   $(24,101)  $27,271
                                      ---------  -------    -------   -------

(b) On June 23, 2006, the Company, in a non cash transaction, issued Series II convertible notes with an aggregate principal value of US$13.5 million to KFOC to repay the US$13.5 million outstanding under the credit facility with KFOC, due to mature on June 30, 2006 (also refer to Note 6).
(c) During the six months ended June 30, 2006, mining interests were acquired at an aggregate cost of $11,084 (June 30, 2005 - $19,170) of which $nil (June 30, 2005 - $5,379) were acquired by means of capital lease.
9. REVENUE FROM METAL SALES

                                        THREE MONTHS        SIX MONTHS
                                           ENDED               ENDED
                                          JUNE 30             JUNE 30
                                     -----------------   -----------------
                                       2006      2005      2006      2005
                                     -------   -------   -------   -------
Palladium                            $16,930   $ 9,432   $29,276   $21,302
Adjustments for mark-to-market        (1,989)      359     2,440       685
Nickel                                 6,480     4,637    11,169     9,523
Platinum                               6,862     4,775    12,031     9,601
Gold                                   2,249     1,873     4,240     3,691
Copper                                 4,691     2,162     7,345     4,148
Other metals                             296       306       510       800
                                     -------   -------   -------   -------
                                     $35,519   $23,544   $67,011   $49,750
                                     -------   -------   -------   -------

10. COMMITMENTS
The Company enters into forward contracts from time to time to hedge the effects of changes in the prices of metals it produces and foreign exchange on the Company's revenues. Gains and losses realized on derivative financial instruments used to mitigate metal price risk are recognized in revenue from metal sales when the hedge transaction occurs. Currently, the Company does not have any contracts in place.
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11. COMPARATIVE PERIOD FIGURES
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the classification adopted in the current period.
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                     NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD. ANNOUNCES
                      SECOND QUARTER 2006 FINANCIAL RESULTS

HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE QUARTER
This news release contains forward-looking statements. Reference should be made to "Forward-looking Statements" at the end of this news release
o REVENUES IN THE QUARTER INCREASED TO $35.5 MILLION COMPARED TO $23.5 MILLION IN Q2 2005 AS THE LAC DES ILES MINE'S PALLADIUM AND BY-PRODUCT METAL SALES BENEFITED FROM THE FIRST FULL QUARTER OF UNDERGROUND PRODUCTION AND HIGHER COMMODITY PRICES. IN THE FIRST SIX MONTHS, REVENUES WERE $67.0 MILLION VERSUS $49.8 MILLION OVER THE COMPARABLE PERIOD LAST YEAR
o NET LOSS NARROWED FOR THE SECOND CONSECUTIVE QUARTER TO $11.3 MILLION ($0.22 PER SHARE) COMPARED TO $15.2 MILLION ($0.29) IN Q2 LAST YEAR. IN THE FIRST HALF OF 2006, NET LOSS DECLINED TO $15.5 MILLION ($0.30) FROM $23.0 MILLION ($0.44) IN THE SAME PERIOD LAST YEAR
o CASH COST PER UNIT, NET OF BY-PRODUCT METALS DECLINED TO US$219 PER OZ COMPARED TO US $322 PER OZ IN THE COMPARABLE QUARTER LAST YEAR AND US$329 PER OZ IN Q1 2006
o PALLADIUM PRICE RECOGNIZED DURING THE QUARTER AVERAGED US$310 PER OZ VERSUS US$182 PER OZ IN Q2 2005 AND US$330 PER OZ IN Q1 2006
o REPAYMENT OF THE KAISER FRANCIS (KFOC) CREDIT FACILITY WITH THE ISSUE OF US$13.5 MILLION PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF SERIES II CONVERTIBLE NOTES
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The Company realized a net loss for the three months ended June 30, 2006 of $11.3 million ($0.22 per share) on revenues of $35.5 million, an improvement over the net loss for the corresponding quarter of 2005 of $15.2 million ($0.29 per share) on revenues of $23.5 million. For the six month period ended June 30, 2006, the net loss of $15.5 million ($0.30 per share) was a measurable improvement over that for the comparable period in 2005 of $23.0 million ($0.44 per share) on revenues of $67.0 million versus $49.8 million a year earlier.
The improvement in operating results is largely attributed to the satisfactory performance of the underground mine which achieved its first full quarter of production, averaging over 2,100 tonnes per day at an average head grade of 5.49 g/t palladium. This combined with higher overall by-product metal prices had a marked net positive impact on cash costs. For the second quarter of 2006, the cash cost per unit, net of by-product metals, declined to US$219 per oz compared to US$322 per oz in the comparable quarter last year and US$329 per oz in the first quarter of this year.
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Palladium revenue for the second quarter of 2006 was recognized at the quoted June quarter end price of US$310 per oz, compared to US$182 per oz in the comparable period of 2005, and US$330 per oz in Q1 of this year. The Company's profitability remains highly levered to commodity price movements as it delivers and sells all of its palladium production into the spot market. No hedging instruments are currently in place on any of its metal production.
PRODUCTION STATISTICS

                                            2006                    2005
                                   ---------------------   ---------------------
                                       Q2        6 MOS        Q2*        6 MOS
                                   ---------   ---------   ---------   ---------
PALLADIUM (OZ)                        57,326     104,341      48,230     100,802
Payable Palladium (oz) (i)            52,171      94,955      43,959      91,883
Platinum (oz)                          5,487      10,184       5,123      10,505
Gold (oz)                              4,200       7,815       3,834       7,965
Copper (lbs)                       1,258,978   2,472,372   1,432,890   2,994,930
Nickel (lbs)                         619,276   1,235,313     643,505   1,421,705

Ore milled (tpd)                      12,105      12,305      13,135      12,992
Ore tonnes mined - u/g               193,752     297,297          --          --
            - open-pit               920,997     935,263   1,979,940   2,204,138
Avg Mill Feed Grade g/t                 2.22        2.00        1.78        1.85
Recovery (%)                            73.1        72.9        70.4        72.2

* Metal production and tonnes milled includes production from the underground pre- production that has not been recorded as revenue, but offset against the underground capital development costs. Metal production from the underground pre-production included 9,004 oz of palladium and other associated by-product metals.
(i) Net of smelter losses
During the second quarter of 2006, palladium production increased to 57,326 oz compared to 48,230 oz in Q2 2005 and 47,015 oz in the first quarter of this year. This was achieved despite two unscheduled shutdowns in the quarter, one for the replacement of the conveyor feeding the coarse ore stockpile, and the other as a result of the delivery of non-specification SAG mill pulp lifters which was subsequently rectified in July over a planned four day maintenance shutdown. The average mill feed grade for the second quarter of 2006 rose to 2.22 g/t palladium over 1.79 g/t palladium in Q1 2006 and 1.78 g/t palladium in Q2 2005. In the month of June, the monthly average mill feed grade of 2.36 g/t palladium was in line with expectations, as the underground average head grade reached 6.41 g/t palladium.
SELECTED QUARTERLY RESULTS

                                      2006                        2005
($000's) except per        -------------------------   -------------------------
share amounts                 Q2       Q1      6 MOS     Q2        Q1      6 MOS
------------------------   -------   ------   ------   -------   ------   ------
Revenue from metal sales    35,519   31,492   67,011    23,544   26,206   49,750
Net loss                   (11,325)  (4,141)  15,466   (15,228)  (7,736)  22,964
Net Loss p.s. - basic        (0.22)   (0.08)   (0.30)    (0.29)   (0.15)   (0.44)
Net Loss p.s. - f.d.         (0.22)   (0.08)   (0.30)    (0.29)   (0.15)   (0.44)
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Non-cash amortization increased to $7.5 million in the second quarter of 2006 compared to $4.8 million in the comparable quarter last year due to the increase in palladium production and the commencement in amortizing the development costs of the underground mine.
For the second quarter of 2006, a $9.1 million loss from mining operations shows an improvement from $15.3 million loss in the corresponding period last year, primarily due to improved metal prices. Included in the 2006 results was $2.8 million (second quarter $1.4 million) spent on exploration at the Arctic Platinum Project (APP) which commenced in the first quarter of this year. Costs associated with the APP are being charged to exploration expense as they occur until it is determined that the project can be economically developed, at which time they will begin to be capitalized.
Other income and expenses together with foreign exchange gains and losses in the second quarter of 2006 totaled $2.7 million compared to $0.3 million in the second quarter of 2005. This increase is due to the recognition of non-cash accretion expenses of $2.5 million relating to the convertible notes payable issued in March and June 2006. In the current quarter, a foreign exchange gain of $1.0 million compared to a loss of $0.1 million in 2005, relating primarily to the Company's US dollar denominated credit facilities as a result of the strengthening Canadian dollar at quarter end.
The Company incurred interest expense on long-term debt of $1.4 million in the second quarter of this year compared to $0.6 million in the same period last year. The increased interest expense in the current year is attributable to the increase in interest rates year over year, as well as additional interest expense associated with the convertible notes payable.
Cash used by operations (prior to changes in non-cash working capital) was $3.1 million in the second quarter of 2006, compared to cash used in operations of $9.9 million in the second quarter of 2005. The improvement in operating cash flow was attributed to the improved metals pricing in the quarter. Changes in non-cash working capital consumed $14.0 million in the second quarter of 2006 compared to providing $12.4 million in second quarter of 2005. After allowing for non-cash working capital changes, cash used by operations was $17.1 million in the second quarter of 2006, compared to cash provided of $2.5 million in the second quarter of 2005, primarily due to the increase in concentrate inventory awaiting settlement.
Investing activities required $3.7 million of cash in the second quarter of 2006, the majority of which was attributed to the ongoing lateral development for the underground mine and the 2006 expansion of the tailings management facilities. This compares with $7.7 million of net investing activities in the corresponding period of 2005. The underground mine is currently at the 5120m level with ten stopes open and one stope completed and filled.
On June 23, 2006, the Company exercised its right under a securities purchase agreement and issued US$13.5 million aggregate principal amount of Series II convertible notes and repaid the outstanding credit facility with KFOC, its principal shareholder. The Series II notes are convertible into 1,108,374 common shares of the Company at US$12.18 per share. Warrants exercisable to purchase 554,187 common shares of the Company were issued with the notes, with each warrant exercisable to purchase one common share at US$13.48 per share until June 23, 2010. The purchasers of the Series I notes have the option to acquire an additional US$10,000,000 aggregate principal amount of convertible notes (Series III) on or before December 31, 2006.
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As at June 30, 2006, the Company had cash of approximately $16.2 million ($15.0 million as at year end 2005) and working capital of $65.4 million ($31.5 at year end 2005). The Company believes it will need to raise additional working capital to fund its expected operations over the next twelve months as the inventory of concentrate awaiting settlement increases.
MANAGEMENT'S OUTLOOK
With the improvement in the overall blended mill feed head grade and with improved mill performance, palladium cash costs per ounce are expected to be significantly lower in 2006 than that experienced in 2005, as evidenced during the second quarter of 2006 when cash costs per ounce of palladium decreased to US$219 per ounce.
For the six months ended June 30, 2006, the Company produced 104,000 ounces of palladium, its principal metal. Beginning in the second quarter of 2006, production has begun to improve over 2005 levels with the commencement of full production from the underground mine. With the intermittent operational issues experienced to date in 2006, the Company now expects production for the year 2006 to be approximately 225,000 ounces versus 280,000 ounces forecast at the beginning of the year, compared to 177,000 ounces produced in 2005.
During the first quarter of 2006, the ultimate pit design implemented in 2004 was changed to an interim pit design that addressed previously disclosed south pit wall instability issues. The Company has engaged an independent geotechnical consultant to review the slope stability issues and his recommendations have been used in designing a reconfigured open pit mining plan. The Company has commenced a detailed review of its life-of-mine operating plan for the Lac des Iles mine, the Company's only operating mine. The Company's management is in the process of preparing and reviewing various mine plan scenarios in order to determine which future mine operating plan optimizes the expected remaining economic life of the Lac des Iles mine. At this time, the most likely mine plan scenario to be adopted is unknown and the possible effect, if any, on the current life-of-mine plan is undeterminable. Depending on the eventual life-of-mine plan selected, the Company will have to review the carrying value of its mining interests and determine if an impairment charge and a corresponding reduction in the carrying value of its mining interests is required.
The Company's aggressive exploration program continues in the second half of 2006, with approximately $9.0 million being allocated to exploration activities for the remainder of the year. The main focus will be on the APP in Finland. To date 49 holes totaling 8,716 meters have been drilled at APP, results of which will be released once all assay results have been received, likely in the coming quarter. At Suhanko, which was the subject of the 2005 feasibility carried out by Gold Fields, updated resource models are nearing completion. The Company will also continue to focus on the further definition of the Offset High Grade Zone at Lac des Iles and its other Canadian exploration projects including Shebandowan. In addition, the pursuit of quality Ni/PGM opportunities will continue to be a key strategy.
The PGM markets continue to benefit from strong global fundamentals. Despite a decrease in palladium prices from highs witnessed during the first quarter, prices remain significantly above prior year's levels and the Company is optimistic that these global fundamentals will fuel increased metal demand and continued strength in palladium prices.
Further information will be available in the Company's MD&A filed on its website and on www.sedar.com.
4
CONFERENCE CALL
The Company will host its second quarter conference call at 8:30 am EDT on Tuesday, August 15, 2006. The toll-free conference call dial-in number is 1-866-249-5221 and the local and overseas dial-in number is 416-644-3430. The conference call will be simultaneously web cast and archived at www.napalladium.com in the Investor Centre under Conference Calls. A replay of the conference call will be available until August 23, 2006; toll-free at 1-877-289-8525, locally and overseas at 416-640-1917, access code 21199657#.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Securities laws encourage companies to disclose forward-looking information so that investors can obtain a better understanding of the company's future prospects and make informed investment decisions. This press release contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the "safe harbor" provisions of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and any applicable Canadian securities legislation, including the Securities Act (Ontario), relating to our objectives, plans, strategies, financial condition and results of operations. Forward-looking statements may include words such as "expect", "will", "continue", "believe" and other similar expressions, as they relate to the Company or its management, are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
It is important to note that: (1) unless otherwise indicated, forward-looking statements indicate our expectations as at August 9, 2006; (2) our actual results may differ materially from our expectations if known and unknown risks or uncertainties affect our business, or if estimates or assumptions prove inaccurate; (3) we cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will materialize and, accordingly, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements; and (4) we disclaim any intention and assume no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement even if new information becomes available, as a result of future events or for any other reason.
In making the forward-looking statements in this news release, the Company has applied several material assumptions, including but not limited to, the assumption that: (1) market fundamentals will result in increased palladium demand and prices and sustained by-product metal demand and prices; (2) the integrated operation of the underground mine and the open pit mine remain viable operationally and economically; (3) financing is available on reasonable terms;
(4) expectations for blended mill feed head grade and mill performance will proceed as expected; (5) new mine plan scenarios will be viable operationally and economically; and (6) plans for improved mill production, for sustainable recoveries from the Lac des Iles mine, for further exploration at the Lac des Iles mine, and surrounding region, and for exploration in Finland will proceed as expected. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements include, among others: (1) metal price volatility; (2) economic and political events affecting metal supply and demand; (3) fluctuations in ore grade or ore tonnes milled; (4) geological, technical, mining or processing problems; (5) future production; and (6) changes in the life-of-mine plan. For a more comprehensive review of risk factors, please refer to the "Risks and Uncertainties" section of the Company's most recent interim Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Results and to the Company's most recent Annual Report under "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Results" and Annual Information Form under "Risk Factors" on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and Canadian securities regulatory authorities.

NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM'S LAC DES ILES MINE IS CANADA'S ONLY PRIMARY PRODUCER OF PLATINUM GROUP METALS AND IS AMONG THE LARGEST OPEN PIT, BULK MINEABLE PALLADIUM RESERVES IN THE WORLD. THE MINE ALSO GENERATES SUBSTANTIAL REVENUE FROM PLATINUM AND BY-PRODUCT METALS INCLUDING NICKEL, GOLD AND COPPER. THE COMPANY IS FOCUSED ON EXPANDING ITS PRODUCTION PROFILE THROUGH JOINT VENTURES IN CANADA AND THE ARCTIC PLATINUM PROJECT IN FINLAND. PALLADIUM'S CATALYTIC QUALITIES ARE EXPECTED TO PLAY AN INCREASING ROLE IN THE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY IN RESPONSE TO GROWING CONCERN FOR GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS, IN FUEL CELL TECHNOLOGY FOR ALTERNATIVE ENERGY SOURCES AND AN EMERGING JEWELLERY MARKET, WHILE CONTINUING TO HAVE WIDESPREAD APPLICATION IN THE DENTAL, ELECTRONICS AND CHEMICAL SECTORS.
For further information contact:
James Excell - President & CEO
Tel: (416) 360-2656
email: jexcell@napalladium.com
Ian MacNeily - Vice President Finance & CFO Tel: (416) 360-2650
email: imacneily@napalladium.com
Donna Yoshimatsu - Director, Investor Relations Tel: (416) 360-2652
email: dyoshimatsu@napalladium.com
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NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 (expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

                                                                   June 30     December 31
                                                                     2006         2005
                                                                 -----------   -----------
                                                                 (unaudited)
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
   Cash and cash equivalents                                      $  16,214     $  15,031
   Concentrate awaiting settlement, net - Note 2                     60,171        37,453
   Inventories                                                       10,304         8,599
   Crushed and broken ore stockpiles - Note 3                         6,348         7,267
   Other assets                                                       1,505         2,344
                                                                  ---------     ---------
                                                                     94,542        70,694

Mining interests, net                                               158,562       159,523
Mine restoration deposit - Note 4                                     7,931         7,247
Crushed and broken ore stockpiles - Note 3                              274           239
Deferred financing costs                                              1,393           654
                                                                  ---------     ---------
                                                                  $ 262,702     $ 238,357
                                                                  ---------     ---------
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                       $  14,716     $  16,392
   Taxes payable                                                        129           386
   Future mining tax liability                                           53            --
   Current portion of obligations under capital leases                2,145         2,323
   Current portion of long-term debt - Note 5                         6,460         6,664
   Current portion of convertible notes payable - Note 6              5,612            --
   Kaiser Francis credit facility - Note 5                               --        13,407
                                                                  ---------     ---------
                                                                     29,115        39,172

Mine restoration obligation                                           8,053         7,894
Obligations under capital leases                                      4,911         6,218
Long-term debt - Note 5                                              13,921        17,660
Convertible notes payable - Note 6                                   30,452            --
Future mining tax liability                                               8           202
                                                                  ---------     ---------
                                                                     86,460        71,146

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
   Common share capital and common share purchase warrants -
      Note 7                                                        337,609       325,592
   Equity component of convertible notes payable, net of issue
      costs  - Note 6                                                12,337            --
   Contributed surplus                                                1,017           874
   Deficit                                                         (174,721)     (159,255)
                                                                  ---------     ---------
                                                                    176,242       167,211
                                                                  ---------     ---------
                                                                  $ 262,702     $ 238,357
                                                                  ---------     ---------
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NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND DEFICIT
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts)

(unaudited)

                                                      THREE MONTHS                 SIX MONTHS
                                                          ENDED                       ENDED
                                                         JUNE 30                     JUNE 30
                                                -------------------------   -------------------------
                                                    2006          2005         2006           2005
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
REVENUE FROM METAL SALES - Note 9               $    35,519   $    23,544   $    67,011   $    49,750
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
OPERATING EXPENSES
   Production costs, excluding amortization
      and asset retirement costs                     28,289        26,176        52,600        49,409
   Smelter treatment, refining and freight
      costs                                           4,237         4,324         6,951         8,997
   Amortization                                       7,538         4,788        11,135         9,507
   Administrative                                     1,584         1,792         3,763         3,387
   Exploration expense                                2,659         1,662         4,683         2,505
   Loss on disposal of equipment                        194            --           194            --
   Asset retirement costs                               132           122           255           246
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
   Total operating expenses                          44,633        38,864        79,581        74,051
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
LOSS FROM MINING OPERATIONS                          (9,114)      (15,320)      (12,570)      (24,301)
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
OTHER EXPENSES (INCOME)
   Accretion expense relating to convertible
      notes payable - Note 6                          2,460            --         2,460            --
   Interest expense                                   1,423           611         2,118         1,246
   Foreign exchange loss (gain)                        (955)           82          (674)          146
   Amortization of deferred financing costs             144            11           155            21
   Write-off of deferred financing costs                 --            --           504            --
   Interest income                                     (380)         (439)         (463)         (928)
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
Total other expenses (income)                         2,692           265         4,100           485
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES                            (11,806)      (15,585)      (16,670)      (24,786)
Income tax expense (recovery)                          (481)         (357)       (1,204)       (1,822)
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
LOSS FOR THE PERIOD                                 (11,325)      (15,228)      (15,466)      (22,964)
Deficit, beginning of period                       (163,396)     (113,380)     (159,255)     (105,644)
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
Deficit, end of period                          $  (174,721)  $  (128,608)  $  (174,721)  $  (128,608)
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
Loss per share
   Basic                                        $     (0.22)  $     (0.29)  $     (0.30)  $     (0.44)
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
   Diluted                                      $     (0.22)  $     (0.29)  $     (0.30)  $     (0.44)
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
   Basic                                         52,371,162    51,997,215    52,293,401    51,870,012
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
   Diluted                                       52,371,162    51,997,215    52,293,401    51,870,012
                                                -----------   -----------   -----------   -----------
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NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 (expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

(unaudited)

                                                      THREE MONTHS            SIX MONTHS
                                                          ENDED                 ENDED
                                                         JUNE 30               JUNE 30
                                                   -------------------   -------------------
                                                     2006       2005       2006       2005
                                                   --------   --------   --------   --------
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATIONS
Loss for the period                                $(11,325)  $(15,228)  $(15,466)  $(22,964)
Operating items not involving cash
   Accretion expense relating to convertible
      notes payable                                   2,460         --      2,460         --
   Amortization                                       7,538      4,788     11,135      9,507
   Amortization of deferred financing costs             144         11        155         21
   Accrued interest on convertible notes                395         --        395         --
   Accrued interest on mine closure deposit             (84)        --        (84)        --
   Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss           (2,722)       462     (2,768)       653
   Loss on disposal of equipment                        194         --        194         --
   Asset retirement costs                               132        122        255        246
   Future income tax expense (recovery)                (295)      (522)    (1,130)    (2,207)
   Write-off of deferred financing costs                 --         --        504         --
   Stock based compensation and employee
      benefits                                          458        467        883        881
                                                   --------   --------   --------   --------
                                                     (3,105)    (9,900)    (3,467)   (13,863)
Changes in non-cash working capital - Note 8        (14,019)    12,398    (24,101)    27,271
                                                   --------   --------   --------   --------
                                                    (17,124)     2,498    (27,568)    13,408
                                                   --------   --------   --------   --------
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
   Issuance of convertible notes                         --         --     41,037         --
   Increase in long term debt and
      credit facility                                    --         --      2,311         --
   Deferred financing costs                            (227)        --     (2,364)        --
   Issuance of common shares                          3,446      2,608      3,921      3,039
   Repayment of long-term debt                       (1,625)    (1,731)    (3,295)    (3,455)
   Repayment of obligations under capital
      leases                                           (597)      (649)    (1,175)    (1,106)
   Mine restoration deposit                            (300)      (300)      (600)      (600)
                                                   --------   --------   --------   --------
                                                        697        (72)    39,835     (2,122)
                                                   --------   --------   --------   --------
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to mining interests                        (3,649)    (7,722)   (11,084)   (13,791)
                                                   --------   --------   --------   --------

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (20,076)    (5,296)     1,183     (2,505)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period       36,290     68,546     15,031     65,755
                                                   --------   --------   --------   --------
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period           $ 16,214   $ 63,250   $ 16,214   $ 63,250
                                                   --------   --------   --------   --------

Supplementary information - Note 8(b) and (c)
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NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2006
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except per share and per ounce amounts)

(unaudited)
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
These unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared using disclosure standards appropriate for interim financial statements and do not contain all the explanatory notes, descriptions of accounting policies or other disclosures required by Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for annual financial statements. Such notes, descriptions of accounting policies and other disclosures are included in the Company's audited annual consolidated financial statements included in the Company's annual report to shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2005. Accordingly, these unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited annual consolidated financial statements for 2005.
LIFE-OF-MINE PLAN REVIEW AND MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINTY OF MINING INTERESTS
During the first quarter of 2006, the ultimate pit design implemented in 2004 was changed to an interim pit design that addressed previously disclosed south pit wall instability issues. The Company has engaged an independent geotechnical consultant to review the slope stability issues and his recommendations have been used in designing a reconfigured open pit mining plan. The Company has commenced a detailed review of its life-of-mine operating plan for the Lac des Iles mine, the Company's only operating mine. The Company's management is in the process of preparing and reviewing various mine plan scenarios in order to determine which future mine operating plan optimizes the expected remaining economic life of the Lac des Iles mine. At this time, the most likely mine plan scenario to be adopted is unknown and the possible effect, if any, on the current life-of mine plan is undeterminable. Depending on the eventual life-of-mine plan selected, the Company will have to review the carrying value of its mining interests and determine if an impairment charge and a corresponding reduction in the carrying value of its mining interests is required.
ARCTIC PLATINUM PROJECT
On October 18, 2005, the Company announced that it had entered into a letter of intent to form a joint venture with Gold Fields Limited to further explore and develop a mining operation at the Arctic Platinum Project ("APP") located in Finland. The APP includes several advanced stage PGM Projects. The Company has been granted an option to earn up to a 50% interest and, in certain circumstances, a 60% interest in APP and will become the project operator. In order to exercise the option, the Company must spend US$12,500, complete a feasibility study and make a production decision, as well as paying Gold Fields up to US$45,000 (for a 60% interest) through the issuance of the Company's common shares (approximately 9.2 million shares) on or before August 31, 2008. The formal agreement governing the joint venture was signed on March 24, 2006. As at June 30, 2006, the Company has incurred $2,771 (US$2,485) in expenditures on the APP and these costs have been charged to exploration expense.
2. CONCENTRATE AWAITING SETTLEMENT
The gross value of concentrate awaiting settlement represents the value of platinum group metals and base metals from production shipped to and received by third-party smelters between November 2005 and June 2006, which are in-process at the balance sheet date. At
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June 30, 2006, concentrate awaiting settlement included 92,154 ounces of palladium (December 31, 2005 - 65,905) of which 9,004 ounces is pre-production from the underground mine which is not recognized as revenue but as a reduction of the cost to develop the underground mine. Concentrate awaiting settlement is revalued and adjusted at each reporting period to reflect changes in metal prices and foreign exchange rates. Concentrate awaiting settlement was entirely from one domestic customer at June 30, 2006 and the Company expects full realization will occur on such receivable.
3. CRUSHED AND BROKEN ORE STOCKPILES
Crushed and broken ore stockpiles are valued at the lower of average production cost and estimated net realizable value. Crushed and broken ore stockpiles represent coarse ore that has been extracted from the mine and is available for further processing. The amount of stockpiled ore that is not expected to be processed within one year is shown as a long-term asset.
4. MINE RESTORATION DEPOSIT
The Company has established a mine closure plan for the eventual clean-up and restoration of the mine site in conjunction with the Ontario Ministry of Northern Development and Mines (the "Ministry"), which requires a total amount of $7,802 to be accumulated in a Trust Fund controlled by the Ministry. At June 30, 2006, the Company had $7,931 on deposit with the Ministry which includes accrued interest of $401. The funds on deposit bear interest at current short-term deposit rates and will be returned to the Company once the mine closure is completed.
5. LONG-TERM DEBT AND CREDIT FACILITY
The Company's long-term debt, is comprised of a senior credit facility with an equipment finance company. The interest rate under the loan facility is LIBOR plus 250 basis points, or 7.85% at June 30, 2006. As at June 30, 2006, the outstanding long-term debt, including current and long-term portions was $20,381 The senior credit facility is repayable in equal quarterly installments over a five-year period with a final maturity of November 24, 2009.
Kaiser-Francis Oil Company's ("KFOC"), the Company's controlling shareholder, credit facility maturing on June 30, 2006 was repaid on June 23, 2006 pursuant to the terms of the Series II convertible note issued on that date (also refer to Note 6).
6. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE

                                                                 June 30, 2006
                                                                 -------------
Series I convertible notes (principal amount US$35 million,
maturing August 1, 2008)                                            $ 25,308
Series II convertible notes (principal amount US$13.5 million,
maturing December 1, 2008)                                            10,756
                                                                    --------
                                                                      36,064
     Less: current portion                                            (5,612)
                                                                    --------
                                                                    $ 30,452
                                                                    --------

On March 29, 2006, the Company issued US$35,000 (C$41,037) aggregate principal amount of Series I convertible notes (the "Series I Notes") due August 1, 2008 through a private placement of convertible notes and common share purchase warrants. The offering (the "Offering") consists of up to US$58,500 principal amount of notes. The Offering was to KFOC
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and an institutional investor (the "Purchasers"). The Offering is governed by a securities purchase agreement dated March 24, 2006 (the "SPA") among the Company and the Purchasers.
The Series I Notes are convertible into 2,873,563 common shares of the Company at any time by the holder at US$12.18 per share. Warrants exercisable to purchase 1,436,782 common shares were issued with the Series I Notes, each warrant being exercisable to purchase one common share at an exercise price of US$13.48 until March 29, 2010.
The Company, at its option, had the right to sell to KFOC up to US$13,500 principal amount of Series II Notes (a second tranche) on or before June 30, 2006, which would be used to repay the loan under the existing KFOC credit facility (refer to note 5). On June 23, 2006, the Company exercised this right and issued to KFOC US$13,500 aggregate principal amount of Series II Notes, due December 1, 2008. The Series II Notes are convertible into 1,108,374 common shares of the Company at any time by the holder at US$12.18 per share. Warrants exercisable to purchase 554,187 common shares were issued with the Series II Notes, with each warrant being exercisable to purchase one common share at an exercise price of US$13.48 until June 23, 2010.
The Purchasers have the option to acquire an additional US$10,000 principal amount of notes (a third tranche) on or before December 31, 2006.
The Series I and II Notes bear interest at a rate of 6.5% per annum payable bi-monthly, commencing on June 1, 2006 and August 1, 2006, respectively. Series I and II Notes are repayable in nine equal installments commencing April 1, 2007 and August 1, 2007, respectively. The interest payments and/or repayment amounts may be paid to each Purchaser, at the Purchaser's option, in any combination of cash and/or common shares. If common shares are issued for interest payments or in repayment of the convertible notes they will be issued at a 10% discount from the weighted average trading price of the common shares on the AMEX for the five consecutive trading days immediately prior to applicable payment date.
Commencing June 29, 2007 for Series I and September 23, 2007 for Series II, if the weighted average trading price of the common shares for each of any 25 consecutive trading days is 150% or more of the conversion price, the Company will have the right to force the Purchasers to convert all or any of the outstanding principal amount of the convertible notes at the conversion price.
The convertible notes contain customary covenants, including restrictions on the Company incurring debt or obligations for or involving the payment of money in excess of certain restricted amounts. The convertible notes are unsecured but contain customary anti-dilution protection as well as adjustments in the event that the Company issues common shares or securities convertible into common shares at a purchase price per common share less than the conversion price. The warrants contain similar anti-dilution protection.
Under Canadian GAAP, the components of the convertible notes must be bifurcated and accounted for separately as debt and equity instruments. The warrants are separable from the notes and are accounted for as an equity instrument. The Series I proceeds received were allocated to the debt and equity components of the notes and to the initial warrants on a relative fair value basis as follows: US$20,558 to the debt, US$8,808 to the equity component and US$5,634 to the warrants. The Series II Notes proceeds were allocated as follows: US$9,578 to the debt, US$2,312 to the equity component and US$1,610 to the warrants. In addition, a liability (the "Equity Premium") was recognized for the holders' option to receive common shares, in lieu of cash, at a 10% discount to the five day weighted trading price, as
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described above, for interest and principal payments. The Company will be required to accrete the carrying value of the convertible notes and the Equity Premium such that at each installment payment date, the carrying value of the notes and the Equity Premium will be equal to the face value of the notes and the liability related to the Equity Premium. The Company recorded accretion expense of $2,460 during the three months ended June 30, 2006 of which $576 represented the accretion relating to the Equity Premium which was included in the carrying value of the convertible notes payable as at June 30, 2006.
The fair value of the debt was determined based on the future payments of principal and interest for a debt instrument of comparable maturity and credit quality, excluding any conversion option by the holder. The Series I Notes carry an effective interest of 42%. The Series II Notes carry an effective interest rate of 28%.
The conversion option or equity component of the Notes was valued using a Binomial model. The fair value of the warrants was determined based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The models used in the valuation of the components of the convertible debt contain certain subjective assumptions, changes of which can cause significant variation in the estimated fair value of the debt and equity components of the notes.
The estimated issue costs of $2,364 have been allocated pro-rata to the debt ($1,398) and equity components ($589) of the Series I and II Notes and to the associated warrants ($377) on a relative fair value basis. The financing costs related to the debt components will be amortized on an effective yield basis over the term of the convertible notes.
7. COMMON SHARE CAPITAL AND COMMON SHARE PURCHASE WARRANTS
The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of special shares, issuable in series, including 10,000,000 Series A preferred shares.
(a) Common shares and common share purchase warrants:

                                                             JUNE 30, 2006
                                                        ---------------------
                                                          SHARES      AMOUNT
                                                        ----------   --------
Common shares issued, beginning of period               52,197,217   $325,592
Common shares issued:
   Pursuant to stock options exercised                     120,588        875
   Fair value of stock options exercised                        --        146
   To group registered retirement savings
      plan participants                                     41,568        507
   For interest payments on convertible notes payable       43,772        395
   Private placement - flow through shares
      (net)                                                270,000      3,045
   Tax effect of flow-through shares                            --       (989)
                                                        ----------   --------
Common shares issued, end of period                     52,673,145    329,571
                                                        ----------   --------

Common share purchase warrants - Note 7b
Balance, beginning of period                                    --         --
   Issued pursuant to terms of Series I
      convertible notes, net of issue costs              1,436,782      6,238
   Issued pursuant to terms of Series II
      convertible notes, net of issue costs                554,187      1,800
                                                        ----------   --------
                                                         1,990,969      8,038
                                                        ----------   --------
Balance, end of period                                               $337,609
                                                        ----------   --------
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The Company finances a portion of its exploration activities through the issue of flow through shares. Under the terms of these share issues, the tax attributes of the related expenditures are renounced to subscribers. At the time the Company renounces the tax attributes of the expenditures to the subscribers, share capital is reduced and future tax liabilities are increased by the estimated income tax benefits renounced.
(b) Common Share Purchase Warrants
Pursuant to the terms of the securities purchase agreements governing the issue of the convertible notes payable, warrants to purchase 1,990,969 common shares were issued and are outstanding as follows:

                                 EXERCISE       EXPIRY
            NUMBER OF WARRANTS     PRICE         DATE
            ------------------   --------   --------------

                 1,436,782       US$13.48   March 29, 2010
                   554,187       US$13.48   June 23, 2010

(c)  Restricted Share Unit Plan

Effective December 14, 2005, the Company adopted a Restricted Share Unit Plan under which eligible directors, officers and key employees of the Company are entitled to receive awards of restricted share units. Each restricted share unit means an equivalent in value to the fair market value of a common share of the Company on the date of the award. As at June 30, 2006, 40,000 restricted share units are outstanding. The fair value of the restricted share units as at June 30, 2006 is $9.63 per unit and $32 has been charged to compensation expense for the three months ended June 30, 2006.
(d) Corporate Stock Option Plan
The following summary sets out the activity in outstanding common share stock options for the six months ended June 30, 2006:

                                        June 30, 2006
                                     --------------------
                                                Weighted-
                                                 Average
                                                 Exercise
                                      Shares      Price
                                     --------   ---------
Outstanding, beginning of period      563,638    $10.43
Granted                                35,000      8.40
Exercised                            (120,588)     7.25
Cancelled                            (124,750)    13.29
                                     --------    ------
Outstanding, end of period            353,300    $10.31
                                     --------    ------
Options exercisable, end of period    145,267    $10.49
                                     --------    ------

The Company recognized a stock based compensation expense of $326 for the six months ended June 30, 2006 (June 30, 2005 - $345). The following table summarizes information about the Company's stock options outstanding at June 30, 2006:
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                                     Options Outstanding   Options Exercisable
                                          at June 30,           at June 30,
Exercise Price     Expiry Dates              2006                  2006
--------------   -----------------   -------------------   -------------------
    $ 3.42           April 7, 2011          15,167                15,167
    $ 4.75       February 27, 2011           7,500                 7,500
    $ 8.40           June 20, 2014          35,000                    --
    $ 8.83       December 14, 2013          10,000                    --
    $ 9.67       November 30, 2013          40,000                    --
    $ 9.76        November 1, 2012          15,000                 5,000
    $10.00       November 27, 2013          50,000                    --
    $10.01            June 6, 2010           6,000                 6,000
    $11.90           June 23, 2012         174,633               111,600
                                           -------               -------
                                           353,300               145,267
                                           -------               -------

8. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(A) THE NET CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL BALANCES RELATED TO 
OPERATIONS ARE AS FOLLOWS:

                                        THREE MONTHS          SIX MONTHS
                                            ENDED               ENDED
                                           JUNE 30             JUNE 30
                                     ------------------   ------------------
                                       2006       2005      2006      2005
                                     --------   -------   --------   -------
Cash provided by (used in):
   Concentrate awaiting settlement   $(10,679)  $12,339   $(22,718)  $29,685
   Inventories and stockpiles            (964)      290       (201)     (432)
   Other assets                           572       304        839       680
   Accounts payable and accrued
      liabilities                      (2,720)     (106)    (1,764)   (2,117)
   Taxes payable                         (228)     (429)      (257)     (545)
                                     --------   -------   --------   -------
                                     $(14,019)  $12,398   $(24,101)  $27,271
                                     --------   -------   --------   -------

(b) On June 23, 2006, the Company, in a non cash transaction, issued Series II convertible notes with an aggregate principal value of US$13.5 million to KFOC to repay the US$13.5 million outstanding under the credit facility with KFOC, due to mature on June 30, 2006 (also refer to Note 6).
(c) During the six months ended June 30, 2006, mining interests were acquired at an aggregate cost of $11,084 (June 30, 2005 - $19,170) of which $nil (June 30, 2005 - $5,379) were acquired by means of capital lease.
9. REVENUE FROM METAL SALES

                                    THREE MONTHS         SIX MONTHS
                                        ENDED               ENDED
                                       JUNE 30             JUNE 30
                                 ------------------   -----------------
                                   2006       2005      2006      2005
                                 --------   -------   -------   -------
Palladium                        $ 16,930   $ 9,432   $29,276   $21,302
Adjustments for mark-to-market     (1,989)      359     2,440       685
Nickel                              6,480     4,637    11,169     9,523
Platinum                            6,862     4,775    12,031     9,601
Gold                                2,249     1,873     4,240     3,691
Copper                              4,691     2,162     7,345     4,148
Other metals                          296       306       510       800
                                 --------   -------   -------   -------
                                 $ 35,519   $23,544   $67,011   $49,750
                                 --------   -------   -------   -------
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10. COMMITMENTS
The Company enters into forward contracts from time to time to hedge the effects of changes in the prices of metals it produces and foreign exchange on the Company's revenues. Gains and losses realized on derivative financial instruments used to mitigate metal price risk are recognized in revenue from metal sales when the hedge transaction occurs. Currently, the Company does not have any contracts in place.
11. COMPARATIVE PERIOD FIGURES
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the classification adopted in the current period.
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